
KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
MEETING DATE:  Thursday, March 23, 2023 

 PLACE OF MEETING: 201 W. Kalamazoo Ave. Kalamazoo, MI 49007 Room 207-A 
TIME: 3:00 pm  

 AGENDA 

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87877064145  
Or One tap mobile :  
    US: +13126266799,,87877064145#  or +16465588656,,87877064145#  
Or Telephone: 
    Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): 
        US: +1 312 626 6799  or +1 646 558 8656 
Webinar ID: 878 7706 4145 
    International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdEju4zxIm 

1. Call to Order:  3:00

2. Roll Call and Members Excused

3. Approval of the Agenda

4. Approval of Minutes:   BRA Minutes of January 26, 2023

5. Public Comments (4 minutes each)

6. Consent Agenda – Invoices
a. From General 242 Fund:

i. $ 160.00 – Fishbeck Invoice 420292 (WO 2023-1 Gen. Environmental)
ii. $ 630.00 – Fishbeck Invoice 421238 (WO 2023-1 Gen. Environmental)

b. From EPA Grant Fund:
i. $115.95 – Fishbeck Invoice 420293 (WO#6 Parchment Mill Site #2)
ii. $ 189.15 – Fishbeck Invoice 420295 (WO#2 Outreach & Programmatic)
iii. $ 573.53 – Fishbeck Invoice 421241 (WO#6 Parchment Mill Site #2)
iv. $ 66.05 – Fishbeck Invoice 421240 (WO#2 Outreach & Programmatic)

7. Discussion and/or Action Calendar
a. Discussion/Action: KALSEE Credit Union Development Agreement

b. Discussion/Action: 2023 Budget Adjustment

c. Discussion/Action: Admin Invoices from KCBRA to Developers

i. $ 5,480.00 IPUSA 2022 Admin Charges (Legal Fees)

Item 3



e. Discussion/Action: Admin Charges to Reimbursement Analyses

i. $ 5,212.50 100 Island Ave (2021)

ii. $ 992.00 Vicksburg Mill (2021)

iii. $ 3,581.50 Vicksburg Mill (2022)

f. Discussion/Action: 2022 Administrative Cost Allocations

g. Discussion/Action: Updated KCBRA Project Application

h. Discussion/Action: LBRF Investment Discussion

i. Discussion/Action:  Vicksburg Mill – Paper City Development, LLC
i. $ 28.75 – Fishbeck Invoice 421239 (EGLE Grant)

ii. $ 747.50 – Reimbursement to Paper City for 1st Quarter FY 23 Loan (Pending

Proof of Payment and Lien, EGLE Approved 1/30/23)

j. Discussion/Action: Selection Committees (April 27, 2023 Annual Meeting)
i. Volunteers for Nomination Committee (no action)

k. Discussion/Action: Fishbeck
i. EPA Grant Contract

1. Work Order No. 5, Amendment No. 2 – NACD Ransom & North

2. $ 25,009.52 – Fishbeck Invoice 420294 (WO#5 NACD)

3. EPA Grant Memo & Summary

ii. General Environmental Contract Memo & Summary

8. Financial Reports
a. Discussion: Fund 243 (247), 242 (643), and 2022 Q4 Report

9. Staff Report/Updates
a. KALSEE Credit Union Brownfield Plan (Update)
b. KCBRA Board Retreat for LBRF
c. 2023 National Brownfields Conference (Presentation Submittals)
d. 2023 Marketing & Outreach Events (Update)
e. KCBRA Feature in BOC Newsletter
f. 3800 Wynn Rd (Update)



10. Committees - times dates and places
a. Land Bank Report – April 13, 2023 at 8:30 a.m.
b. Project/Finance Committee – Thursday, April 13, 2023, 4:00 p.m.
c. Executive Committee – Friday, April 14, 2023 9:15 a.m.

11. Other

12. Board Member Comments

13. Adjournment

Next Meeting(s): Three meetings on Thursday, April 27, 2023 at 3:00 p.m.  
KCBRA Annual Meeting, then Annual Meeting of EDC, immediately after Regular Meeting 

of KCBRA 
Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via 

teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for 
electronic meeting notice and instructions 

BOARD MEMBERS: 
PLEASE CALL 384-8305 OR EMAIL MRWALT@KALCOUNTY.COM 

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING 
Meetings of the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are open to all 
without regard to race, sex, color, age, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, 
political affiliation, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability.  The Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and 
services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being 
considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon four (4) 
business days’ notice to the Kalamazoo County BRA.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services should contact the Kalamazoo County BRA by writing or calling: 

Macy Rose Walters 
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator 
Kalamazoo County Government 
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue 
Kalamazoo, MI 49007      TELEPHONE:  (269) 384-8305 



 DRAFT - MINUTES 

(4 minutes each)

Item 4







Next Meeting: Thursday, February 23, 2023 at 3:00 p.m.
Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via 

teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for 
electronic meeting notice and instructions 



For Professional Services Rendered Through 1/31/2023

Current Billings 160.00

Amount Due This Bill 160.00

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

GR - General Review 14,000.00 14,000.00 160.00 0.00 160.00

Rate Labor 160.00

CAS - Contractual Administrative Support 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 420292
Invoice Date : 2/16/2023

Project : 230454
Project Name : KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen 

Environmental Review
Bill Term : BT1

Item 6 a i

Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review Invoice:   420292
GR - General Review
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Senior Hydrogeologist

0.50 150.0000 75.00Jeffrey Hawkins
Specialist

Logan Mulholland 1.00 85.0000 85.00
Total Rate Labor 160.00

Total Bill Task: GR - General Review 160.00

Total Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review 160.00

mrwalt
Highlight



For Professional Services Rendered Through 2/28/2023

Current Billings 630.00
Amount Due This Bill 630.00

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

GR - General Review 14,000.00 13,840.00 475.00 160.00 315.00
Rate Labor 315.00

CAS - Contractual Administrative Support 6,000.00 6,000.00 315.00 0.00 315.00
Rate Labor 315.00

Total Fee : 20,000.00
To Date Billings : 790.00
Total Remaining : 19,210.00

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 421238
Invoice Date : 3/16/2023

Project : 230454
Project Name : KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen 

Environmental Review
Bill Term : BT1

Item 6 a ii

Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review Invoice:   421238
GR - General Review
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 3.00 105.0000 315.00
Total Rate Labor 315.00

CAS - Contractual Administrative Support
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 3.00 105.0000 315.00
Total Rate Labor 315.00

Total Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review 630.00

mrwalt
Highlight



For Professional Services Rendered Through 1/31/2023

Current Billings 115.95

Amount Due This Bill 115.95

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

E220154 - KCBRA/Parchment Mill Site (WO 
#6)

20,000.00 115.95

Rate Labor 115.95

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 420293
Invoice Date : 2/16/2023

Project : E220154
Project Name : KCBRA/Parchment Mill Site (WO 

#6)
Bill Term : BT1

Item 6 b i

Project:   E220154 - KCBRA/Parchment Mill Site (WO #6) Invoice:   420293
CPA - Cleanup Planning Activities
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Senior Environmental Specialist

0.50 122.1000 61.05David Stegink
Staff Environmental Specialist

Logan Mulholland 0.75 73.2000 54.90
Total Rate Labor 115.95

Total Bill Task: CPA - Cleanup Planning Activities 115.95

Total Project:   E220154 - KCBRA/Parchment Mill Site (WO #6) 115.95

mrwalt
Highlight



For Professional Services Rendered Through 1/31/2023

Current Billings 189.15

Amount Due This Bill 189.15

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment 
Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

2,500.00 189.15

COMM - Community Outreach & 
Programmatic

Rate Labor 189.15

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 420295
Invoice Date : 2/16/2023

Project : E210229
Project Name : KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant 

-W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

Bill Term : BT1

Item 6 b ii

Project:   E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and Programmatic Invoice:   420295
COMM - Community Outreach & Programmatic
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Hydrogeologist

0.50 122.1000 61.05Jeffrey Hawkins
Staff Environmental Specialist

Logan Mulholland 1.75 73.2000 128.10
Total Rate Labor 189.15

Total Bill Task: COMM - Community Outreach & Programmatic 189.15

Total Project:   E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

189.15

mrwalt
Highlight



For Professional Services Rendered Through 2/28/2023

Current Billings 573.53
Amount Due This Bill 573.53

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

E220154 - KCBRA/Parchment Mill Site (WO 
#6)

573.53

Rate Labor 573.53

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 421241
Invoice Date : 3/16/2023

Project : E220154
Project Name : KCBRA/Parchment Mill Site (WO 

#6)
Bill Term : BT1

Item 6 b iii

Project:   E220154 - KCBRA/Parchment Mill Site (WO #6) Invoice:   421241
CPA - Cleanup Planning Activities
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Senior Environmental Specialist

1.25 122.1000 152.63David Stegink
Staff Environmental Specialist

Logan Mulholland 5.75 73.2000 420.90
Total Rate Labor 573.53

Total Bill Task: CPA - Cleanup Planning Activities 573.53

Total Project:   E220154 - KCBRA/Parchment Mill Site (WO #6) 573.53

mrwalt
Highlight



For Professional Services Rendered Through 2/28/2023

Current Billings 66.05
Amount Due This Bill 66.05

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment 
Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

66.05

COMM - Community Outreach & 
Programmatic
Rate Labor 66.05

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 421240
Invoice Date : 3/16/2023

Project : E210229
Project Name : KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant 

-W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

Bill Term : BT1

Item 6 b iv

Project:   E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and Programmatic Invoice:   421240
COMM - Community Outreach & Programmatic
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

0.50 95.5000 47.75Therese Searles
Staff Environmental Specialist

Logan Mulholland 0.25 73.2000 18.30
Total Rate Labor 66.05

Total Bill Task: COMM - Community Outreach & Programmatic 66.05

Total Project:   E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

66.05

mrwalt
Highlight



Item 7 a

























Item 7 b



Item 7 c i



Site

Total TIR 

expected 2022 

or first year 

capture

% of Total 

TIR 

Available

Gen Admin. 

Expenses based on 

% of TIR 

Actual plan specific 

charges 2022 (legal 

& contractual)

2022 Admin Costs 

spread across plans Notes

1 Midlink 751,000.00$        18.20% 17,346.67$               17,346.67$  

2 General Mills 177,000.00$        4.29% 4,093.89$                 4,093.89$  

3 AJZ Sprinkle ‐$   0.00% ‐$   ‐$   

4 Brown Family (Beckan) ‐$   0.00% ‐$   ‐$   
5 9008 Portage Road 7,257.69$             0.18% 167.87$ 167.87$  

6 Corner @ Drake ‐$   0.00% ‐$   ‐$   

7 555 Eliza St. 742.47$                0.02% 17.17$   17.17$  

8
400 S. 14th St (Metal 
Mechanics) 5,055.10$             0.12% 116.92$   ‐$   116.92$  

9 Kartar #6 (Schoolcraft) ‐$   0.00% ‐$   ‐$   

10 232 LLC 5,289.38$             0.13% 122.34$   122.34$  

11 Blackbird Billiards  1,786.10$             0.04% 41.31$   41.31$  
12 RAI Jets 13,869.30$           0.34% 320.79$ 320.79$  

13
Kalamazoo West 
Professional Center 4,320.84$             0.10% 99.94$   99.94$  

14 381/383 S. Pitcher 22,498.70$           0.55% 520.38$   520.38$  

15 Stryker 2,121,151.68$     51.40% 49,060.76$               49,060.76$  

16 Stadium Park Way 124,055.02$        3.01% 2,869.31$                 2,869.31$  

17
Holiday Lanes (Delta 
Marriott) 48,234.27$           1.17% 1,115.63$                 1,115.63$  

18 Vicksburg Mill ‐$   0.00% ‐$   3,581.50$                   3,581.50$  
plus $992 from 2021 on 
Reimbursement Agreement

19 Parchment Mill ‐$   0.00% ‐$   ‐$   

20
Parchment 100 Island 
Ave 2,836.88$             0.07% 65.62$   65.62$  

plus $5,212.50 from 2021 on 
Reimbursement Agreement

21 GPI 203,912.60$        4.94% 4,716.36$                 4,716.36$  

22
Scannell/ Project 
Spartan 637,370.82$        15.45% 14,741.94$               14,741.94$  

23 IPUSA ‐$   0.00% 5,480.00$                   5,480.00$  
*Invoice to be paid before 
capture  begins

24 2 and 10 Mills St. ‐$   ‐$   ‐$   

25
619, LLC ‐ 619 Porter 
St. (Railroad parcels) ‐$   ‐$   ‐$   

Total 4,126,380.85$     100.00% 95,416.88$              9,061.50$                  104,478.38$                 

*Green column is what to charge to each project account ‐ MW

KCBRA 2022 General Administrative Expense Allocation ‐ draft (complete)

Item 7 f



Rev 3/2/2023

Memorandum 
To: Potential Applicants for Brownfield Funding 

Kalamazoo County, through its Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (Authority), is able to potentially provide various types of 
financial support on redevelopment projects throughout Kalamazoo County. The types of financial support include: 

● Tax increment financing;
● Authority grants and loans (subject to availability);
● Access to State and Federal grants and loans (subject to availability);

Certain funding may be used for eligible activities on eligible sites including the following: 

● Phase I Environmental Site Assessments
● Phase II Environmental Site Assessments
● Baseline Environmental Assessments
● Due Care Plans
● Hazardous Materials Building Surveys (asbestos and lead)
● Clean‐up Planning
● Additional Response Activities
● Demolition
● Lead and Asbestos Abatement
● Site Preparation (City of Kalamazoo, City of Portage)
● Infrastructure Improvements (City of Kalamazoo, City of Portage)

Project funding will be considered by the Authority on a case‐by‐case basis considering the merits of the proposed project and 
the funding needed.  Criteria for project consideration will include local unit of government support, evaluating potential for re‐ 
investment, job creation, availability and condition of infrastructure, environmental issues at the site and other benefits to the 
community. All grant funded approved activities will be conducted by the County’s authorized environmental consultant. 

Interested parties are encouraged to contact the Authority staff to discuss the potential project, the applicability of the 
program and to understand the application process. There is a two‐part application with the Part I Application providing details 
of the project including business information, proposed project site and details, tax‐base information, timing requirements, etc. 
A general discussion with the Authority staff and the applicant will ensue. Based on the merits of the project, Authority staff 
will recommend completion of a Part II Application and/or review by the Authority’s Committees. 

 There is no fee for a Part I of the Application. Should the Applicant be encouraged to complete and submit a Part II 
Application, an application fee will be required according  to the following Fee Schedule: 

● For projects under $100,000 investment, the fee will be $500
● For projects between $100,000 and $500,000 investment, the fee shall be $1,250
● For projects over $500,000 investment, the fee shall be $2,500

Fees may be waived at the discretion of the Authority in circumstances they deem appropriate. 

Item 7 g



Rev 3/2/2023

All applications must include a conditional reimbursement agreement should the overall project development not occur.  It is 
Exhibit A as part of the Part II Application. 

Both the application (and the Conditional Reimbursement Agreement) can be found on the KCBRA web page – 
https://kalcountybrownfield.com/helpful‐links/project‐applications/ 

You should contact us at phone or the following email – mrwalt@kalcounty.com. Pre‐ application contact is highly 
recommended and will be beneficial to our common interests. 

Please provide general information about your project in a cover letter to the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority, in care of Macy Walters at the address above. The Proposed Part I Project Application must be complete and 
submitted with your cover letter. 

Depending on the stage of your project, information may be preliminary or developing. Therefore, please provide as much 
information as you can at this time.  Please make sure you inform us of your project timeline requirements or flexibility so that 
we can relate them to Authority timelines and funds available to determine if potential assistance can be offered which will 
meet your deadlines.  

By accepting incentives from the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA), you are agreeing to place a 
sign at the project site, you are also agreeing to permit the Authority to cite or use any renderings or photographs or other 
materials of the Project as an example of private/public partnership and brownfield site redevelopment. A sign must be placed on 
the Property, during rehabilitation/redevelopment, to promote the Project and the Authority’s participation in it. A sign may be 
provided by the Authority, or the developer may include a logo, provided the Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, on their 
own collateral. Upon completion of the Project, if the KCBRA has provided a sign, the sign will be returned to the Authority.  

By accepting incentives from the KCBRA, you are agreeing to assist and cooperate with the Authority in providing information 
that the Authority may require in providing necessary reports to governmental or other agencies, including, but not limited to, 
information regarding the amount of Developer expenditures and capital investments, jobs created, and square footage 
developed or rehabilitated with respect to the Project. 

Based on a review of your completed Part I Application, we will contact you within ten (10) business days to discuss the next 
steps in the process or if we need additional information. At the meeting when your request is heard you should be present; 
you will be advised of that date. 

Again, if you have any questions, comments or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact us. Kalamazoo County appreciates 
your interest in the redevelopment of our community. 

Best regards, 

Macy Rose Walters 
Macy Rose Walters, MPA 
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator 
Kalamazoo County Planning and Development Department 
Phone: (269) 384‐8305 
Email: mrwalt@kalcounty.com 

Please visit www.kalcountybrownfield.com for more information 



For Professional Services Rendered Through 2/28/2023

Current Billings 28.75
Amount Due This Bill 28.75

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

E190048 - KCBRA/Paper City Development - 
EGLE Grant Oversight - Task #6

28.75

Rate Labor 28.75

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 421239
Invoice Date : 3/16/2023

Project : E190048
Project Name : KCBRA/Paper City Development - 

EGLE Grant Oversight - Task #6
Bill Term : BT1

Project:   E190048 - KCBRA/Paper City Development - EGLE Grant Oversight - Task #6 Invoice:   421239
EGLE - W.O. 2019-2 EGLE Grant Oversight
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 2/14/2023 0.25 115.0000 28.75
Project update meeting

Total Rate Labor 28.75

Total Project:   E190048 - KCBRA/Paper City Development - EGLE Grant Oversight - Task #6 28.75

Item 7 i i

mrwalt
Highlight



Invoice
DATE

1/2/2023

INVOICE #

2225

BILL TO

Paper City Development
101 South Main Street
Vicksburg, MI 49097

Phillips Environmental
Consulting Services. Inc.

201 North Michigan Avenue
Vicksburg, MI 49097

PROJECT

1046A - Vicksburg Mill

Task 5 - Loan Administration

Phone #

269-501-5079

Total

Balance Due

DATE DESCRIPTION QUANTITY RATE AMOUNT

10/12/2022 Review Frederick invoice to respond toe State questions. Calls with Douglas Koop. 1 130.00 130.00
10/13/2022 Preparation of Quarterly report and research information for call with Douglas on

interim quarterly loan report.
3 130.00 390.00

11/30/2022 Update loan spreadsheet and review and comment on 4Q 2022 loan report. 1 130.00 130.00

$650.00

$650.00

Item 7 i ii

mrwalt
Highlight



Invoice
DATE

1/2/2023

INVOICE #

2227

BILL TO

Paper City Development
101 South Main Street
Vicksburg, MI 49097

Phillips Environmental
Consulting Services. Inc.

201 North Michigan Avenue
Vicksburg, MI 49097

PROJECT

1046A - Vicksburg Mill

Loan Task 2C - Soil Management

Phone #

269-501-5079

Total

Balance Due

DATE DESCRIPTION QUANTITY RATE AMOUNT

11/2/2022 Complete form to renew Waste Profile at Waste Management. 0.5 130.00 65.00
11/28/2022 Confirm approval to extend Waste Profile approval with WM for one year. 0.25 130.00 32.50

$97.50

$97.50

mrwalt
Highlight



Scope of Services

Contract for Professional Services 
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority  

Applicable to Contract Dated November 15, 2021 
Work Order No. 5, Amendment No. 2 Dated February 17, 2022 

Between 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD And FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 2960 INTERSTATE PARKWAY 
201 WEST KALAMAZOO AVENUE  KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 49048 
KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN  49007-3777 

Subject Matter:  NACD Ransom and North Street Parcels – Kalamazoo 
Funding Source:  US EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant FY21 

Task 2 – Phase II ESA, Vapor Assessment, Phase II ESA (Pre-approved with WO No. 5) 
Task 2 - UST Site Assessment (Pre-approved with WO No. 5 and WO No. 5, Amendment No. 1 and requested WO No. 
5, Amendment No. 2) 

CLIENT requests that FISHBECK perform the work described below in accordance with the terms of the above-referenced 
Contract and as described in this “Scope of Services.” 

FISHBECK will begin work on this Work Order and complete the services as described in the attached "Scope of Services." 

FISHBECK and CLIENT have designated the following representatives for this “Scope of Services”: 

Jeffrey C. Hawkins (269) 342-1100 
Name (FISHBECK) Phone 

Mr. Ken Peregon, Chair (269)-384-8112 
Name (CLIENT) Phone 

If CLIENT accepts this Scope of Services, please sign this Work Order on behalf of CLIENT and return to the FISHBECK 
Representative above: 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO: 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD  FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 

By Ken Peregon By Jeffrey C. Hawkins 
Title Chair Title Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist

Signature ________________________ Signature ________________________ 
Date ______________ Date ______________ 

Item 7 i i 1



Work Order No. 5, Amendment No. 2 Dated February 17, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 
  

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\WORK ORDERS\WORK ORDER 5, 
AMENDMENT NO. 2 - RANSOM AND NORTH ST_NACD, KALAMAZOO MI.DOCX 

I.     Amended Scope of Services 
 
Approved scope of services were prepared on site condition information that was available at the time. 
Heavy snowfall received right before field services occurred required time and resources to clear the site. 
The renter on site had a broken down vehicle that had to be moved. While Fishbeck engaged in 
conversations to facilitate removal before field work was initiated, the level of effort to removal the vehicle 
was greater than anticipated and required additional coordination and time. The contents of the tanks 
were an unknown and ended up being filled with a mixture of fuel and water. The additional items needing 
to be addressed required additional time on site, increasing labor costs. One additional soil sample was 
needed due to the discovery of unanticipated piping. The volume of tank contents led to higher disposal 
costs. Therefore, even with the additional $7,000 approved in amendment No. 1, these additional 
considerations require the request for an additional amendment No. 2 to the budget in the amount of 
$5,500.  
 
Pre-Approved Scope of Services (through Amendment No. 1) 
The Northside Association for Community Development (NACD) has applied to the KCBRA for 
environmental assessment assistance associated with the redevelopment of several parcels along W. 
Ransom Street, the corner of Ransom and N. Westnedge Avenue, and W. North Street in Kalamazoo. The 
project is part of a broader goal to create generational wealth within the northside community. This project 
creates four single-family owner-occupied homes along Ransom Street, retains retail rental space at 604. N. 
Westnedge, creates a tiny home development at 447 W. North Street, and creates a 4-apartment-unit for 
youth that have aged-out of the foster program.  All parcels subject to his work order are owned by NACD 
and assessment is sought on 604 N. Westnedge, 447 W. North Street and 441. W. North Street. Some 
environmental assessment has been completed by NACD on these parcels. Asbestos surveys, asbestos 
abatement, and demolition has occurred. It was also discovered during this previous assessment that two 
USTs are located on the 604 N. Westnedge parcels. Condition and potential contents of the USTs is 
unknown. Previous Phase I ESA research indicated that a dry cleaners was once located somewhere near 
the northern subject parcels but exact location is unknown. 
 
This WO #5 has been prepared to detail the scope, budget, and timing estimated as necessary to complete 
Phase II ESA, UST Site Assessment, and vapor assessment activities in order to assess any environmental 
challenges to redevelopment.   
 
Task 2 – Vapor Assessment (Soil Gas and Vapor Pin) 
Fishbeck (Envirologic) will seek eligibility from the U.S EPA to utilize assessment grant funding on each of 
the subject parcels. The suspected presence of a dry-cleaning business on or near the northern parcels 
prompts the need for a vapor assessment prior to these parcels being occupied by residents. Fishbeck 
(Envirologic) intends to conduct a one-time soil gas sampling event with 5 temporary locations at 447 W. 
North Street. Fishbeck (Envirologic) intends to conduct vapor pin installation and a one-time sampling event 
at 604 N. Westnedge Avenue and 441 W. North Street. 4 pins are anticipated for 604 N. Westnedge and 6 
pins are anticipated for 441 W. North street. Pins will remain in place after sampling. 
 
Task 2 – 604 N. Westnedge, Phase II ESA, UST Site Assessment 
In addition to the vapor assessment needs, additional environmental assessment is needed at 604 N. 
Westnedge. This parcel has previously been associated with automotive services and is currently being 
rented by a heating and cooling business. While some GPR assessment was previously conducted no other 
Phase II investigation work has been completed to inform NACD on environmental conditions of the 
property. Fishbeck (Envirologic) intends to complete soil and groundwater sampling through Geoprobe 
sampling (8 total samples) for a broad range of VOCs, PNAs, and Cd, Cr, and Pb. In order to complete some 
of the sampling needs, the USTs will need to be removed in order to access the soil beneath the tanks.  
 
A UST site assessment, inclusive of tank removal to access below the tanks, soil sampling and preparation of 
a site assessment report will be conducted.  
 



Work Order No. 5, Amendment No. 2 Dated February 17, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 3 
  

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\WORK ORDERS\WORK ORDER 5, 
AMENDMENT NO. 2 - RANSOM AND NORTH ST_NACD, KALAMAZOO MI.DOCX 

Amendment No. 1 did not alter the scope of services but increased the initial budget as formal proposed 
contractor costs came in higher than estimated. Multiple bids were solicited to ensure reasonable costs for 
services rendered. 
 
 
II.   Pre-Approved Compensation (through Amendment No. 1) 
Compensation for services provided under this Work Order will be completed on a time and materials basis 
invoiced at the rates provided in the Contract for Professional Services between FISHBECK and CLIENT not-
to-exceed the budget detailed below without prior authorization from the KCBRA. 
 
EPA Eligibility and Vapor Assessment 

Vapor Pin Installation and One-time Sampling Event (604 & 441) ......................... $ 7,500 
Soil Gas Sampling One-time Event (447) ................................................................. $ 3,500 

ESTIMATED Vapor Assessment TOTAL .......................................................................... $ 11,000 
 
EPA Eligibility and 604 N. Westnedge Phase II Activities 

Phase II ESA (8 combined soil/groundwater samples)  ........................................... $ 8,550 
UST Site Assessment (UST Removal to conduct Phase II and Site Assessment)…….$    20,800 
Amendment No. 1………………………………………………………………………………………………..$      7,000 

ESTIMATED 604 N. Westnedge Phase II TOTAL ............................................................. $ 36,350 
 
TOTAL ESTIMATED BUDGET – APPROVED WORK ORDER #5 and Amendment No. 1 ...... …$47,350 
 
Amended Compensation 
Additional costs associated with the UST removal are estimated to be $5,500 more than the budget 
approved in WO No. 5 and WO No. 5, Amendment No. 1. 
 
TOTAL ESTIMATED BUDGET – APPROVED WORK ORDER #5……………………………………………….$40,350 
TOTAL ESTIMATED BUDGET – WORK ORDER #5, AMENDMENT #1……………………………………….$7,000 
TOTAL ESTIMATED BUDGET – WORK ORDER #5, AMENDMENT #2……………………………………….$5,500 
TOTAL ESTIMATED PROJECT BUDGET – WO #5 plus WO #5, AMENDMENTS #1 AND #2  …….$52,850 
 
 
III.   Schedule 
QAPP approval was received from the U.S. EPA on December 20, 2021. Eligibility was received on June 9, 
2022, the HASP was accepted and the SAP was approved by the EPA on July 11, 2022. Approved work order 
No. 5 activities are largely complete and amended activities will be wrapped up in the next couple weeks. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



For Professional Services Rendered Through 1/31/2023

Current Billings 25,009.52

Amount Due This Bill 25,009.52

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

SG/VP - Soil Gas/Vapor Pin 0.00

PH II/UST - 604 N Westnedge (PH II/UST SA) 17,551.06 25,009.52

Rate Labor 114.08

Multiplier Labor 37.50

Total Labor 151.58

Expenses 24,857.94

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 420294
Invoice Date : 2/16/2023

Project : E220128
Project Name : KCBRA/NACD-Ransom and North 

St. W.O. 5
Bill Term : BT1

Item 7 i i 2

Project:   E220128 - KCBRA/NACD-Ransom and North St. W.O. 5 Invoice:   420294
PH II/UST - 604 N Westnedge (PH II/UST SA)
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

1.00 95.5000 95.50Therese Searles
Staff Engineer

Mahta Naziri Saeed 0.25 74.3000 18.58
Total Rate Labor 114.08

Multiplier Labor
Class / Employee Hours Cost Rate Multiplier Amount
Staff Technician

Shelbey Senkewitz 0.50 25.0000 3.00 37.50
Total Multiplier Labor 37.50

Expenses
Account / Vendor Cost Multiplier Amount
Subconsultant

Green for Life Environmental 24,857.94 1.00 24,857.94
Total Expenses 24,857.94

Total Bill Task: PH II/UST - 604 N Westnedge (PH II/UST SA) 25,009.52

Total Project:   E220128 - KCBRA/NACD-Ransom and North St. W.O. 5 25,009.52

REMOVED FROM AGENDA

mrwalt
Highlight



Memo 
TO: Macy Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, Kalamazoo County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority 

FROM: Jeff Hawkins, Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist 

DATE: March 23, 2023 

RE: FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 

This memorandum serves to provide information regarding updates for the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) for activities and services rendered on various projects 
related to the FY21 EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant. 

1. Community Outreach and Programmatic
Project No: E210229 -W.O. 2 

Update: 

Fishbeck communicated with NACD to identify a date and location for a outreach event on the northside of 
Kalamazoo; updated ACRES 

2. NACD – Church and Frank Street Project
Project No: E220129 – W.O. 4

Update: 

NACD plans to redevelop 21 tax foreclosed parcels, currently held by the County Land Bank, into 18 affordable 
residential properties. NACD has a Purchase Agreement with the Land Bank. The KCBRA has approved NACD’s 
application and approved a work order funding for a Phase I ESA and selective ground penetrating radar on 
parcels that may have remaining foundations. Eligibility and approval of the Sampling and Analysis Plan was 
obtained. All field activities are complete. The GPR survey identified several parcels with suspect buried 
demolition debris. The Phase I ESA report has been completed and provided to NACD. There are four parcels that 
warrant further assessment. Timing for this assessment in relation to plans for construction of future houses is 
being evaluated. NACD is prioritizing the Ransom and North Street redevelopment project before moving forward 
on these parcels. No further actions since last month. 

3. NACD – Ransom and North Street Projects
Project No: E220128 – W.O. 5

Update: 

NACD owns several parcels of land that are located between North Street, Ransom Street and Westnedge Avenue 
in the Northside Minority Cultural Business District. Several different projects include a tiny house development, a 
transitional apartment housing project, 4 single-family houses and a retail building. A Phase I ESA has been 
completed on several parcels in the vicinity and Phase II ESA activities were recommended including vapor 
intrusion assessment, soil sampling, UST removal and assessment and other activities. The KCBRA approved 

Item I i 3



Memo – FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 
February 23, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2023\MARCH 2023\KCBRA 
EPA GRANT FUNDS MEMO AND MONTHLY UPDATE 3-23-23.DOCX

NACD’s application and funding through a Work Order from Envirologic at the June 23, 2022, meeting. Eligibility 
and approval of the Sampling and Analysis Plan was received from the EPA. Field work has been completed 
including installation of soil gas wells and vapor pins on all three assessment parcels and some soil and 
groundwater sampling on 604 N. Westnedge Avenue. Phase II ESA reports have been finalized for 447 W. North 
and 441/445 W. North Street.  All of the proposed field work for 604 N. Westnedge has been completed. The 
KCBRA approved an amended work order associated with the UST removal due to higher contractor estimates 
than initially received. Three bids were received to ensure competitive pricing. The selected contractor removed 
the tanks and restored the site on November 21st through the 23rd. The tanks were full of fuel and water which 
required removal and disposal. Samples were obtained for the site assessment, there were no signs of a release 
and the site assessment report and amended registration have been filed with the state. A few challenges 
occurred related to moving a vehicle and clearing snow at the site which led to longer times on site. We have 
received final costs and were prepared to present a work order amendment at the February KCBRA meeting, 
which was canceled. Therefore, this work order amendment will be presented for consideration at the March 
KCBRA meeting. All other scope items have been completed. Costs were higher than anticipated and 
Fishbeck/NACD is requesting an additional $5,500 to complete the project and primarily cover the additional 
subcontractor costs with some Fishbeck oversight/reporting time. 

4. Parchment Mill Site
Project No: E220154 – W.O. 6

Update: 

The City of Parchment has been continuously working on plans to improve the redevelopment potential for the 
property. After a failed attempt by a previous developer, the city regained ownership of the property in 2020. To 
improve and advance the City’s efforts related to this site, additional cleanup planning activities are warranted 
and are the subject of the Work Order that was approved by the KCBRA.  Specific activities that Envirologic 
envisions include: 

1. Following up on the Resources Roundtable Discussion and with specific questions and concerns

2. Development of Development Visualizations/Concepts and environmental concerns.

3. Community Engagement Meetings

4. Development of Preliminary Cleanup and Demolition Activities and Preliminary Budgets

5. Meetings with City BRA, Planning Commission, City Commission as needed.

To-date Envirologic has developed a tri-fold brochure and banner, prepared for and staffed a booth at the 
Kindleberger Festival to get interested citizens to sign up for future notifications about the Mill activities so they 
can be informed and included in the discussions. Envirologic has had several meetings and planning sessions, 
continues to collect information about the site, and has met with the City Council and the Planning Commission. 
An initial community engagement event was held on August 23, 2022 at the Parchment District library to assess 
community input regarding redevelopment plans. Another community engagement event was completed at the 
Parchment District Library on September 20th. Based on community input, specific future land uses preferred by 
the community have been identified. A Site-wide project needs list has been developed. Based on the definition 
of the project, we drafted a project plan, preliminary budgets, potential cleanup and goals, etc. Final 
documentation will be prepared. Those project plans were used to craft the EPA grant request (the actual grant 
proposal writing will not be paid by the County BRA). Updated accomplishments were presented to the KCBRA 
board at their December 15th meeting. EPA did notify the city that the grant passed the Threshold Criteria and is 
being further evaluated. Fishbeck is working on the final deliverables related to the roadmap going forward for 
the site including cost estimates for activities anticipated at the site and participated in a meeting related to this 
plan. 



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

3/23/2023 revised

Activity  Budget Estimates 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total Invoice No. Invoice Date Total Invoiced Amount

Initial Grant Award 300,000.00$            

County 4 Personnel 1,200.00$                -$                                    

County 4 Travel 6,000.00$                -$                                           

County 4 Supplies 1,500.00$                -$                                    

County 4 Other -$                         -$                                    

County Subtotal 8,700.00$                County Subtotal -$                                    County Subtotal

Contractual - Envirologic Technologies, Inc. 291,300.00$            -$                                    -$                     

210220 1 2 QAPP Preparation 5,000.00$                Invoice Total 08272 11/10/2021 118.50$                               

08354 12/7/2021 1,440.75$                          

08471 1/6/2022 444.75$                              

Project Subtotal 2,004.00$                          Project Subtotal 2,996.00$           

210229 2 4 Community Outreach and Programmatic 2,500.00$                Invoice Total 08661 2/18/2022 132.02$                               

Invoice Total 08841 4/8/2022 104.56$                              

Invoice Total 08977 5/10/2022 359.38$                              

Invoice Total 09127 6/13/2022 341.14$                              

Invoice Total 09389 8/18/2022 209.13$                              

Invoice Total 09619 10/12/2022 41.83$                                

Invoice Total 09745 11/9/2022 352.93$                              

Invoice Total 09857 12/12/2022 345.06$                              

Invoice Total 09921 1/5/2023 73.20$                                

Invoice Total 420295* 2/16/2023 189.15$                             

Invoice Total 421240* 3/16/2023 66.05$                               

Project Subtotal 2,214.45$                          Project Subtotal 285.55$               

210265 3 2 1001 2nd Street, Kalamazoo 17,695.01$              Invoice Total 08771 3/14/2022 10,823.90$                        

Invoice Total 08842 4/8/2022 3,021.18$                          

Invoice Total 08978 5/10/2022 156.15$                              

Invoice Total 09513 9/16/2022 1,016.80$                          
Project Subtotal 15,018.03$                        Project Subtotal 2,676.98$           

Budget Returned 2,676.98$           

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                     

 2 Phase II 12,895.00$              08771 3/14/2022 10,823.90$                         

  08842 4/8/2022 1,489.25$                           

Phase Subtotal 12,313.15$                        Phase Subtotal 581.85$               

   

  2 BEA & Due Care 4,000.00$                08842 4/8/2022 1,531.93$                           

08978 5/10/2022 156.15$                              

09513 9/16/2022 216.80$                              

Phase Subtotal 1,904.88$                          Phase Subtotal 2,095.12$           

1 Phase I ESA Update 800.00$                   09513 9/16/2022 800.00$                              

Phase Subtotal 800.00$                              Phase Subtotal -$                     

220128 5 2 NACD - Ransom and North St. 47,350.00$              Invoice Total 09243 7/12/2022 614.29$                               

Invoice Total 09296 8/4/2022 12,499.46$                        

Invoice Total 09409 9/7/2022 2,778.21$                          

Invoice Total 09636 10/21/2022 4,152.64$                          

Invoice Total 09663 11/3/2022 875.04$                              

Invoice Total 09859 12/12/2022 3,599.99$                          

Invoice Total 09924 1/5/2023 2,881.90$                          

Invoice Total 421464* 3/23/2023 25,002.47$                        

Project Subtotal 52,404.00$                        Project Subtotal (5,054.00)$          

Invoice Breakdown

 2 Soil Gas (447 W. North Street) & Vapor Pin (441 W. North St.) 11,000.00$               

  09243 7/12/2022 324.13$                               

09296 8/4/2022 5,677.51$                          

09409 9/7/2022 151.63$                              

09636 10/21/2022 3,480.86$                          

09663 11/3/2022 216.34$                              

Phase Subtotal 9,850.47$                          Phase Subtotal 1,149.53$           

   

  2 604 N. Westnedge (Phase II, UST Site Assessment) 29,350.00$               

Amendment #1 7,000.00$                09243 7/12/2022 290.16$                              

09296 8/4/2022 6,821.95$                          

36,350.00$              09409 9/7/2022 2,626.58$                          

09636 10/21/2022 671.78$                              

09663 11/3/2022 658.70$                              

09859 12/12/2022 3,599.99$                          

09924 1/5/2023 2,881.90$                          

421464 3/23/2023 25,002.47$                        

Phase Subtotal 42,553.53$                        Phase Subtotal (6,203.53)$          

220129 4 1 NACD - Church and Frank Street Parcels 25,000.00$              Invoice Total 09245 7/12/2022 2,597.81$                           

Invoice Total 09295 8/4/2022 11,669.06$                        

Invoice Total 09410 9/7/2022 1,959.60$                          

Invoice Total 09637 10/21/2022 460.06$                              

Project Subtotal 16,686.53$                        Project Subtotal 8,313.47$           

Invoice Breakdown

 1 Eligibility and Phase I ESAs 6,000.00$                 

  09245 7/12/2022 2,443.58$                           

09295 8/4/2022 2,358.48$                          

09410 9/7/2022 1,959.60$                          

09637 10/21/2022 248.33$                              

Phase Subtotal 7,009.99$                          Phase Subtotal (1,009.99)$          

   

  2 GPR Surveys 19,000.00$               

09245 7/12/2022 154.23$                              

09295 8/4/2022 9,310.58$                          

09637 10/21/2022 211.73$                              

Phase Subtotal 9,676.54$                          Phase Subtotal 9,323.46$           

220154 6 3 Parchment Mill Site 20,000.00$              Invoice Total 09391 8/22/2022 4,442.58$                           

Invoice Total 09515 9/16/2022 3,183.01$                          

Invoice Total 09629 10/17/2022 1,806.40$                          

Invoice Total 09673 11/4/2022 2,343.59$                          

Invoice Total 09860 12/12/2022 3,865.38$                          

Invoice Total 09922 1/5/2023 400.46$                              

Invoice Total 420293* 2/16/2023 115.95$                              

Invoice Total 421241* 3/16/2023 573.53$                             

Project Subtotal 16,730.90$                        Project Subtotal 3,269.10$           

Approved Project Budgets Subtotal 117,545.01$            Invoice Total 105,057.91$                      Budgets Remaining 9,810.12$           

Estimated Contractual Budget Remaining 173,755.00$            186,242.09$                      

Check 291,300.00$       

Project Budgets Returned 

210265 3 2 1001 2nd Street, Kalamazoo 2,676.98$                

-$                         

Available Contractual Budget Remaining 176,431.97$            

Notes:

 

 

 

 Actual Contractual Budget Remaining 

and un-invoiced 

Grant 

Task

Number

Project 

Complete
 Total 

 Actual  Project Budget Remaining 



For Professional Services Rendered Through 1/31/2023

Current Billings 25,002.47
Amount Due This Bill 25,002.47

Current
Billings

PH II/UST - 604 N Westnedge (PH II/UST SA) 25,002.47
Rate Labor 144.53
Expenses 24,857.94

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 421464
Invoice Date : 3/23/2023

Project : E220128
Project Name : KCBRA/NACD-Ransom and North 

St. W.O. 5
Bill Term : BT1

Project:   E220128 - KCBRA/NACD-Ransom and North St. W.O. 5 Invoice:   421464
PH II/UST - 604 N Westnedge (PH II/UST SA)
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

1.00 95.5000 95.50Therese Searles
Staff Engineer

0.25 74.3000 18.58Mahta Naziri Saeed
Staff Technician

Shelbey Senkewitz 0.50 60.8900 30.45
Total Rate Labor 144.53

Expenses
Account / Vendor Cost Multiplier Amount
Subconsultant

Green for Life Environmental 24,857.94 1.00 24,857.94
Total Expenses 24,857.94

Total Bill Task: PH II/UST - 604 N Westnedge (PH II/UST SA) 25,002.47

Total Project:   E220128 - KCBRA/NACD-Ransom and North St. W.O. 5 25,002.47

Item 7 i i 4



Memo 
TO: Macy Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, Kalamazoo County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority 

FROM: Jeff Hawkins, Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist 

DATE: February 23, 2023 

RE: General/LBRF Funding Updates 

This memorandum serves to provide information regarding updates for the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) for activities and services rendered on various projects 
related to General Funding or LBRF Projects. 

1. General Environmental Review
Project No: 230454 – W.O. 2023-1

Update:

General Review: Fishbeck attended the Project and Finance and Executive Committee
meetings providing updates on projects and participating in review of the Comstock
application.
Contractual Administrative Support: Fishbeck attended the Kalamazoo County Land Bank
Authority meeting and completed a note summary of the meeting.

2. Paper City Development – EGLE Grant Oversight
Project No: E190048 – W.O. 2019-2

Update:
Fishbeck attended the team meeting. The team is preparing to close out the grant.

3. Paper City Development – EGLE Loan Oversight
Project No: E190148 – W.O. 2019-4

Update:
Fishbeck did not have any activities related to the loan this month.

4. 3800 Wynn Road, Kalamazoo Twp., MI
Project No: E210178 – W.O. 2021-2

Update:
The KCBRA staff is attempting to communicate with property owner to understand status of
project and determine timing on preparing a brownfield plan for the site to at a minimum
recoup the KCBRA’s costs.

Item k ii



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review

Budget and Cost Summary 

3/23/2023

Page 1 of 1

230454 2023-1 General Environmental Review 14,000.00$            14,000.00$             420292 2/16/2023 $160.00

421238* 3/16/2023 $315.00

Project Subtotal 14,000.00$            14,000.00$             $475.00 $13,525.00

Contractual Administrative 6,000.00$              6,000.00$               421238* $45,001.00 $315.00

Project Subtotal 6,000.00$              6,000.00$               $315.00 $5,685.00

Project Total $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $790.00 $19,210.00

190048 2019-2 Paper City Development - EGLE Grant Oversight

W.O. Approved   

Total Approved budget of $3,000.00 3,000.00$              3,000.00$               05421 4/18/2019 $2,642.50 $16,857.50 $16,857.50

Amendment #1 - $5,000.00 5,000.00$              5,000.00$               05490 5/10/2019 $140.00 $16,717.50 $16,717.50

Amendment #2 - $5,000.00 5,000.00$              5,000.00$               05603 6/14/2019 $1,662.50 $15,055.00 $15,055.00

Contingency Amendment #3- $6,500 6,500.00$              6,500.00$               05665 7/16/2019 $1,110.00 $13,945.00 $13,945.00

Project Subtotal 19,500.00$            19,500.00$             05723 8/14/2019 $788.75 $13,156.25 $13,156.25

05787 9/6/2019 $35.00 $13,121.25 $13,121.25

06215 1/7/2020 $26.25 $13,095.00 $13,095.00

06329 2/7/2020 $131.25 $12,963.75 $12,963.75

06442 3/19/2020 $210.00 $12,753.75 $12,753.75

06579 5/12/2020 $113.75 $12,640.00 $12,640.00

06655 6/17/2020 $52.50 $12,587.50 $12,587.50

 06714 7/9/2020 $105.00 $12,482.50 $12,482.50

06808 8/11/2020 $78.75 $12,403.75 $12,403.75

06895 9/8/2020 $52.50 $12,351.25 $12,351.25

06994 10/12/2020 $446.25 $11,905.00 $11,905.00

07086 11/5/2020 $551.25 $11,353.75 $11,353.75

07163 12/7/2020 $183.75 $11,170.00 $11,170.00

07282 1/14/2021 $645.73 $10,524.27 $10,524.27

07465 3/9/2021 $446.25 $10,078.02 $10,078.02

07514 4/8/2021 $301.77 $9,776.25 $9,776.25

07669 5/21/2021 $402.50 $9,373.75 $9,373.75

07764 6/16/2021 $26.25 $9,347.50 $9,347.50

07955 8/9/2021 $78.75 $9,268.75 $9,268.75

08127 10/6/2021 $26.25 $9,242.50 $9,242.50

08659 2/18/2022 $52.50 $9,190.00 $9,190.00

08768 3/10/2022 $26.25 $9,163.75 $9,163.75

08840 4/8/2022 $262.50 $8,901.25 $8,901.25

08975 5/10/2022 $172.50 $8,728.75 $8,728.75

09125 6/13/2022 $28.75 $8,700.00 $8,700.00

09390 8/18/2022 $57.50 $8,642.50 $8,642.50

09618 10/12/2022 $86.25 $8,556.25 $8,556.25

09744 11/9/2022 $373.75 $8,182.50 $8,182.50

09856 12/12/2022 $230.00 $7,952.50 $7,952.50

421239* 3/16/2023 $28.75 $7,923.75 $7,923.75

Project Subtotal $11,576.25 $7,923.75

190148 2019-4 Paper City Development LLC, Vicksburg, Michigan - EGLE Loan Oversight

W.O. Approved 40,000.00$            $40,000.00 05789 9/6/2019 $1,470.00 $38,530.00 $38,530.00

05896 10/7/2019 $787.50 $37,742.50 $37,742.50

05994 11/7/2019 $1,242.50 $36,500.00 $36,500.00

06128 12/9/2019 $280.00 $36,220.00 $36,220.00

06214 1/7/2020 $105.00 $36,115.00 $36,115.00

'06330 2/7/2020 $385.00 $35,730.00 $35,730.00

06441 3/19/2020 $840.00 $34,890.00 $34,890.00

06516 4/8/2020 $271.25 $34,618.75 $34,618.75

06580 5/12/2020 $840.00 $33,778.75 $33,778.75

06656 6/17/2020 $236.25 $33,542.50 $33,542.50

06713 7/9/2020 $130.00 $33,412.50 $33,412.50

06809 8/11/2020 $78.75 $33,333.75 $33,333.75

06896 9/8/2020 $315.00 $33,018.75 $33,018.75

06982 10/12/2020 $297.50 $32,721.25 $32,721.25

07042 11/5/2020 $52.50 $32,668.75 $32,668.75

07162 12/7/202 $78.75 $32,590.00 $32,590.00

07346 2/5/2021 $52.50 $32,537.50 $32,537.50

07464 3/9/2021 $262.50 $32,275.00 $32,275.00

07515 4/8/2021 $35.00 $32,240.00 $32,240.00

07670 5/21/2021 $700.00 $31,540.00 $31,540.00

07956 8/9/2021 $131.25 $31,408.75 $31,408.75

08051 9/14/2021 $26.25 $31,382.50 $31,382.50

08355 12/7/2021 $210.00 $31,172.50 $31,172.50

08767 3/10/2022 $288.75 $30,883.75 $30,883.75

08839 4/8/2022 $393.75 $30,490.00 $30,490.00

08976 5/10/2022 $28.75 $30,461.25 $30,461.25

09126 6/13/2022 $86.25 $30,375.00 $30,375.00

Project Subtotal $9,625.00 $30,375.00

210178 2021-2 3800 Wynn Road, Kalamazoo Twp. 21,000.00$            21,000.00$             08138 10/6/2021 $11,504.97 $9,495.03 $9,495.03

08253 11/4/2021 $308.51 $9,186.52 $9,186.52

08357 12/7/2021 $1,102.50 $8,084.02 $8,084.02

08473 1/6/2022 $897.00 $7,187.02 $7,187.02

08670 2/18/2022 $130.00 $7,057.02 $7,057.02

09079 6/8/2022 $225.00 $6,832.02 $6,832.02

Project Subtoal $14,167.98 $6,832.02

Phase II ESA 15,000.00$            $15,000.00

08138 10/6/2021 $9,787.47 $5,212.53 $5,212.53

08253 11/4/2021 $262.50 $4,950.03 $4,950.03

08357 12/7/2021 $1,102.50 $3,847.53 $3,847.53

08473 1/6/2022 $897.00 $2,950.53 $2,950.53

$12,049.47 $2,950.53

BEA/Due Care 3,000.00$              $3,000.00

08138 10/6/2021 $1,717.50 $1,282.50 $1,282.50

08253 11/4/2021 $46.01 $1,236.49 $1,236.49

08670 2/18/2022 $130.00 $1,106.49 $1,106.49

09079 6/8/2022 $262.50 $843.99 $843.99

$2,156.01 $843.99

Contingency 3,000.00$              $3,000.00

Total Project Budgets $100,500.00 $100,500.00  Total $36,159.23 $64,340.77

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount
Task Budget 

Remaining

Total Budget 

Remaining



 2022 Budget Q4 YTD Page 1of 5

2/23/2023

3 Expenses ‐ 243 accounts 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget Revenues ‐ 242 accounts 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD 2021 Budget
4 Salary Director 64,500.00$             6,621.03$                 64,500.00$            Previous Fund trfr  ‐$   ‐$  
5 Salaries Other 2,900.00$                41,209.97$               2,900.00$                 Service Fees 10,000.00$                 ‐$ 10,000.00$             
6 Fringe Benefits 25,000.00$             17,458.31$               25,000.00$            TIR Collection (Admin Fees) 2022 Budget ACTUAL  2021 Budget
7  Postage 100.00$                   1.76$    100.00$                  Midlink 16,000.00$              17,346.67$         18,000.00$           
8 Copy Charges 100.00$                   36.83$   500.00$                  Brown ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  
9 Office Supply  200.00$                   26.54$   200.00$                  General Mills 25,500.00$              4,093.89$              1,800.00$              

10 Contractual Services 15,000.00$             9,606.25$                 15,000.00$            Portage Rd 1,800.00$                 167.87$                  29,500.00$           
11 Site Study 10,000.00$             2,950.00$                 10,000.00$            Corner@Drake 20,000.00$              ‐$   25,000.00$           
12 Contractual Other (Staff+legal) 9,000.00$                9,061.50$                 9,000.00$               Eliza Street 60.00$    17.17$                 600.00$                 
13 Contractual Services (Operations) 14,000.00$             8,481.25$                 14,000.00$            Metal Mechanics 1,000.00$                 116.92$               1,000.00$              
14 Internal Communications Expense ‐$   1,650.00$                 ‐$   232 LLC 1,000.00$                 122.34$               400.00$                 
15 Communication Expense 1,700.00$                300.00$   1,000.00$               Blackbird 400.00$   41.31$                
16 Travel 1,000.00$                21.94$   300.00$                  RAI Jets 1,400.00$                 320.79$               1,400.00$              
17 Reserve for Future Use ‐$   ‐$    ‐$   Kalamazoo West 1,000.00$                 99.94$                
18 Marketing program 1,000.00$                200.00$   1,000.00$               AJZ Sprinkle ‐$   ‐$   1,000.00$              
19 Equipment Maintenance  ‐$   ‐$    ‐$   381/383 Pitcher 1,500.00$                 520.38$              
20 Employee Training 2,000.00$                ‐$    2,000.00$               Stryker 46,000.00$              49,060.76$        
21 Miscellaneous 500.00$                   ‐$    500.00$                  Stadium Park Way 7,000.00$                 2,869.31$           1,000.00$              
22 New Equipment ‐$   ‐$    ‐$   Holiday Lanes (Delta Conf. Ctr) 2,300.00$                 1,115.63$           ‐$  
23 Adminstrative Expense ‐$   ‐$    ‐$   Scannell/FedEx 10,000.00$              14,741.94$         1,500.00$              
24 Indirect Costs 6,000.00$                6,853.00$                 4,000.00$               100 Island LLC 3,000.00$                 65.62$                 7,000.00$              
25 Developer Reimbursements* ‐$   (35,929.00)$              ‐$   Vicksburg Mill ‐$   3,581.50$          50,000.00$          
26 Total 153,000.00$           104,478.38$             150,000.00$          IPUSA ‐$   5,480.00$          
27 * not factored into total 2022 Admin Expenses Graphic Packaging ‐$   4,716.36$           ‐$  
28 Parchment Mill/City BRA ‐$   ‐$ 1,800.00$             
29 Subtotal Admin 137,960.00$           104,478.38$      140,000.00$        

30 147,960.00$               104,478.38$          150,000.00$            
31
32
33 LBRF Account Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget LBRF Account Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
34 Carry forward for future use 180,000.00$           ‐$    150,000.00$          Trfr from Fund 247 230,000.00$               996,625.37$          175,000.00$            
35 Contractual Other 50,000.00$             1,252.00$                 25,000.00$            ‐$
36 GRAND TOTAL ‐ 242 Expenses 230,000.00$           1,252.00$                 175,000.00$          GRAND TOTAL ‐ 242 Revenues 230,000.00$               996,625.37$          175,000.00$            
37
38 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
39 GRAND TOTAL ‐ 243 Expenses 3,369,900.00$       5,783,309.04$         2,862,900.00$      GRAND TOTAL ‐ 243 Revenues 3,369,900.00$           4,460,218.33$      2,842,900.00$       
40
41
42
43
44
45 Midlink Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget Midlink Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
46   Local TIR payments 379,000.00$           220,480.32$             377,000.00$           Local TIR 395,000.00$               389,638.44$          395,000.00$            
47   School TIR payments  ‐$   ‐$    ‐$    School TIR ‐$   510,939.94$          ‐$  
48 Administrative 18,000.00$             17,346.67$               18,000.00$           

TIR tranfer to LBRF 394,228.36$            
50 Total 397,000.00$           632,055.35$             395,000.00$          Total 395,000.00$               900,578.38$          395,000.00$            
51
52  9008 Portage Rd Expenses  2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget 9008 Portage Rd. Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD 2021 Budget
53 Local TIR payments to dev. ‐$   918.19$   ‐$     Local TIR 1,000.00$                    4,152.50 ‐$  
54 School TIR payments to dev. 200.00$                   958.61$   200.00$                    School TIR 1,000.00$                    ‐$   ‐$  
55 TIR to State BF Fund 300.00$                   ‐$    ‐$  
56 Administrative 1,800.00$                167.87$   1,800.00$              
57 Total 2,300.00$                2,044.67$                 2,000.00$               Total 2,000.00$                    4,152.50$              ‐$  
58
59 General Mills Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget General Mills Revenue 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
60 Local TIR Payments 79,500.00$             146,858.51$             75,500.00$              Local TIR 105,000.00$               37,074.55 1,000.00$                 
61 School TIR payments 250,000.00$           129,903.00$             250,000.00$            School TIR 250,000.00$               14,806.25 1,000.00$                 
62 Administrative 29,500.00$             4,093.89$                 29,500.00$           
63 TIR tranfer to LBRF 310,467.33$            
64 Total 359,000.00$           591,322.73$             355,000.00$          Total 355,000.00$               51,880.80$            2,000.00$                 
65
66 Corner @ Drake Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget  Corner @ Drake Revenues  2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
67 TIR Payments  ‐$   ‐$    ‐$     Local TIR 200,000.00$               213,540.78$          105,000.00$            
68 TIR transfer to LBRF 180,000.00$           217,535.53$             175,000.00$         
69 Administrative 25,000.00$             ‐$    25,000.00$            250,000.00$           
70 Total 205,000.00$           217,535.53$             200,000.00$          Total 200,000.00$               213,540.78$          355,000.00$            
71
72 555 E. Eliza Street Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget 555 E. Eliza Street Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
73 Local TIR payments ‐$   ‐$    ‐$   Local TIR 400.00$   430.97$                  200,000.00$            
74 School TIR payments  100.00$                   ‐$    100.00$                  School TIR 300.00$   295.14$                  ‐$  
75 TIR to State BF Fund 100.00$                   36.00$   ‐$  
76 Administrative 600.00$                   17.17$   600.00$                 
77 Total 800.00$                   53.17$   700.00$                  Total 700.00$   726.11$                  200,000.00$            
78
79 232 LLC Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget 232 LLC Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
80 Local TIR Payments 2,000.00$                4,758.43$                 2,000.00$               Local TIR 3,000.00$                    4,841.10$              400.00$  
81 Administrative 1,000.00$                122.34$   1,000.00$               300.00$
82 Total 3,000.00$                4,880.77$                 3,000.00$               Total 3,000.00$                    4,841.10$              700.00$  
83
84 Blackbird Billiards Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget Blackbird Billiards Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
85 Local TIR Payments 550.00$                   295.38$   550.00$                  Local TIR 500.00$   1,055.22$              3,000.00$                 
86 School TIR payments 50.00$    947.20$   50.00$    School TIR 500.00$   775.96$                 
87 TIR to State BF Fund 100.00$                   93.00$   ‐$  
88 Administrative 400.00$                   41.31$   400.00$                 
89 Total 1,100.00$                1,376.89$                 1,000.00$               Total 1,000.00$                    1,831.18$              3,000.00$                 
90
91 RAI Jets Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget RAI Jets Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
92 Local TIR payments  5,100.00$                ‐$    5,100.00$               Local TIR 6,500.00$                    13,974.17$            500.00$  
93 School TIR payments  5,700.00$                ‐$    5,700.00$               School TIR 5,700.00$                    5,891.65$              500.00$  
94 TIR to State BF Fund 800.00$                   809.50$   ‐$  
95 TIR to LBRF ‐$   13,871.91$               ‐$  
96 Administrative 1,400.00$                ‐$    1,400.00$              
97 Total 13,000.00$             14,681.41$               12,200.00$            Total 12,200.00$                 19,865.82$            1,000.00$                 
98
99 Kalamazoo West Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget Kalamazoo West Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget

100 Local TIR payments 4,000.00$                5,128.40$                 4,000.00$               Local TIR 5,000.00$                    1,133.40$              6,500.00$                 
101 Administrative 1,000.00$                99.94$   1,000.00$               5,700.00$                
102 Total 5,000.00$                5,228.34$                 5,000.00$               Total 5,000.00$                    1,133.40$              12,200.00$              
103
104 Metal Mechanics Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget Metal Mechanics Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
105 Local TIR payments  4,000.00$                4,724.28$                 4,000.00$               Local TIR 5,000.00$                    4,910.93$              5,000.00$                 
106 School TIR payments 5,000.00$                59.65$   5,000.00$               School TIR 6,000.00$                    (59.65)$                  
107 TIR to State BF fund 700.00$                   ‐$    1,000.00$              
108 TIR to LBRF ‐$   2,332.92$                 ‐$  
109 Administrative 1,000.00$                116.92$   1,000.00$              
110 Total 10,700.00$             7,233.77$                 11,000.00$            Total 11,000.00$                 4,851.28$              5,000.00$                 
111
112 Stryker Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget Stryker Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
113 Local TIR Payments 754,000.00$           1,465,792.55$         750,000.00$          Local TIR 800,000.00$               1,101,270.12$      5,000.00$                 
114 School TIR Payments 700,000.00$           1,485,889.88$         550,000.00$          School TIR 700,000.00$               1,018,906.22 6,000.00$                 
115 TIR to State BF fund 250,000.00$           205,184.00$             150,000.00$         
116 Administrative 50,000.00$             49,060.76$               50,000.00$           
117 Total 1,754,000.00$       3,205,927.19$         1,500,000.00$      Total 1,500,000.00$           2,120,176.34$      11,000.00$              
118
119 Stadium Park Way Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget Stadium Park Way Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
120 Local TIR payments  48,000.00$             171,311.97$             48,000.00$            Local TIR 55,000.00$                 44,400.45$            ‐$  
121 School TIR payments  76,000.00$             ‐$    66,500.00$            School TIR 76,000.00$                 43,006.75$            ‐$  
122 Sch. TIR to State BF fund 13,000.00$             12,604.50$               9,500.00$              
123 Administrative 7,000.00$                38,798.31$               7,000.00$              
124 Total 144,000.00$           222,714.78$             131,000.00$          Total 131,000.00$               87,407.20$            ‐$  

126 Graphic Packaging Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget Graphic Packaging Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
127 Local TIR payments ‐$   ‐$   Local TIR ‐$   78.11$   ‐$  
128 School TIR payments ‐$   ‐$    ‐$   School TIR ‐$   101.20$                  ‐$  
129 Sch. TIR to State BF fund ‐$   ‐$    ‐$  
130 Administrative 471,636.00$           4,716.36$                 ‐$  
131 Total 471,636.00$           4,716.36$                 ‐$   Total ‐$   179.31$                  ‐$  
132
133 381/383 S. Pitcher Expenses 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget 381/383 S. Pitcher Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
134 Local TIR payments 15,500.00$             12,429.24$               15,500.00$            Local TIR 17,000.00$                 12,850.12$            800,000.00$            
135 School TIR payments  12,000.00$             7,296.45$                 10,500.00$            School TIR 12,000.00$                 8,355.15$              700,000.00$            
136 Sch. TIR to State BF fund 1,500.00$                1,058.50$                 1,500.00$              
137 Administrative 1,500.00$                520.38$   1,500.00$              
138 Total 30,500.00$             21,304.57$               29,000.00$            Total 29,000.00$                 21,205.27$            1,500,000.00$        
139
140 Delta Marriott Holiday Lanes 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget Delta Marriott/Holiday Lanes 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
141 Local TIR payments 19,700.00$             ‐$    20,200.00$            Local TIR 22,000.00$                 32,346.39$            55,000.00$              
142 School TIR payments 26,000.00$             ‐$    22,700.00$            School TIR 26,000.00$                 ‐$   76,000.00$              
143 Sch. TIR to State BF fund 5,500.00$                ‐$    3,300.00$              
144 Administrative 1,800.00$                1,115.63$                 1,800.00$              
145 Total 53,000.00$             1,115.63$                 48,000.00$            Total 48,000.00$                 32,346.39$            131,000.00$            
146
147 Vicksburg Mill 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget Vicksburg Mill 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
148 Contractual Other (Legal) 10,000.00$             3,581.50$                 20,000.00$            Local TIR (9,989.02)$             17,000.00$              
149 Administrative  ‐$   School TIR ‐$   12,000.00$              
150 3rd Party Reimbursements 10,000.00$                 ‐$
151 Total 10,000.00$             3,581.50$                 20,000.00$            Total 10,000.00$                 (9,989.02)$             29,000.00$              

152
153 Scannell/FedEx 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget Scannell/FedEx 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
154 Local TIR Payments to Dev. 290,000.00$           309,153.85$             ‐$   Local TIR 300,000.00$               584,526.68$          22,000.00$              
155 School TIR payments to dev. 250,000.00$           9,245.50$                 ‐$   School TIR 250,000.00$               146,047.97$          26,000.00$              
156 Sch. TIR to State BF fund 50,000.00$             7,109.50$                 ‐$  
157 Administrative ‐$   14,741.94$               ‐$  
158 Total 590,000.00$           340,250.79$             ‐$   Total 550,000.00$               730,574.65$          48,000.00$              
159
160
161 EPA Grant Expenditures 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget EPA Grant Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
162 Contractual 97,000.00$             78,992.26$               ‐$   Fed Grant Rev 99,500.00$                 138,072.45$          20,000.00$              
163 Travel 2,000.00$                1,847.21$                 ‐$  

164 Salaries ‐$   ‐$    ‐$  

165 Fringe ‐$   ‐$    ‐$  
166 Office Supplies 500.00$                   ‐$    ‐$  
167 Total 99,500.00$             80,839.47$               ‐$   Total 99,500.00$                 138,072.45$          ‐$  

169 EGLE Loan Expenditures 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget EGLE Loan Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
170 Salaries, Director ‐$   480.00$    ‐$  
171 Salaries, other ‐$   1,295.16$                 ‐$   Interest on Investments ‐$   21,212.18$            ‐$  
172 Fringe ‐$   647.92$   ‐$  
173 Contractual Services ‐$   249,650.54$             ‐$  
174 Travel ‐$   ‐$    ‐$  
175 Admin Expenses ‐$   ‐$    ‐$  
176 2021 Correction ‐$   65,728.90$               ‐$  
177 Total ‐$   317,802.52$             ‐$   Total ‐$   21,212.18$            ‐$  
178

EGLE Grant Expenditures 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget EGLE Grant Revenues 2022 Proposed 2022 YTD  2021 Budget
180 Salaries, Director ‐$   288.00$   
181 Salaries, other ‐$   1,070.30$                 ‐$   Grant Revenues ‐$   11,333.14$           
182 Fringe ‐$   495.78$   ‐$  
183 Contractual Services ‐$   72,756.40$               ‐$  
184 Reserve for Future Use ‐$   ‐$  
185 Admin Expenses ‐$   ‐$  
186 Interest Expense ‐$   ‐$  
187 2021 Correction ‐$   (65,728.90)$              ‐$  

Total ‐$   8,881.58$                 ‐$   Total ‐$   11,333.14$           

Project Accounts ‐ Expenditures Project Accounts ‐ Revenues

2022 Budget Q4 YTD 
General ‐ Fund 242 Expenditures General ‐ Fund 242 Revenues

LBRF ‐ Fund 242 Expenses LBRF ‐ Fund 242 Revenues

Item 8 



2022 Expense Detail

1 Postage  Jan‐March              Other contract Salaries
2 April‐June 0.85 Varnum (Paper city) 1,892.00$     Salary R Q1 995.43$       
3 July‐Sept. Varnum (Paper city) 1,689.50$     Salary M Q1 12,994.75$ 
4 Oct.‐Dec. 0.91 Varnum (IPUSA) 799.00$        Fringe Q1 5,106.41$    
5 Total 1.76$                 Varnum (IPUSA) 4,557.00$     Salary R Q2 883.20$       
6 Printing  Jan‐March ‐$                   Varnum (IPUSA) 124.00$        Salary M Q2 13,800.08$ 
7 April‐June ‐$                   Fringe Q2 5,359.40$    
8 July‐Sept. 33.28$               Salary Q3 R 2,976.00$    
9 Oct.‐Dec. 3.55$                 Salary Q3 M 5,739.77$    

10 Total 36.83$               Fringe Q3 3,181.25$    
11 Office Supplies Total 9,061.50$     Salary Q4 R 1766.4
12 staples 26.54 Communication ‐internal Salary Q4 M 8675.37
13 Network Jan.‐March 412.5 Fringe Q4 3811.25
14 Network April‐June 412.5
15 Total 26.54$               Network July‐Sept. 412.5 Total 65,289.31   
16 Contractual Network Oct.‐Dec. 412.5
17 ET 2/9/22 670.00$            Total 1,650.00$    
18 ET 3/1/22 140.00$            Communication 
19 ET  3/25/22 166.25$            Web. Blue Tree 11/2/22 300.00$       
20 ET 5/9/22 966.25$           
21 ET 6/1/22 2,006.25$        
22 ET 6/13/22 1,442.50$        
23 ET 7/12/22 305.00$           
24 ET 8/22/22 1,322.50$        
25 ET 9/16/22 547.50$            Total 300.00$       
26 ET 10/12/22 656.25$            Travel
27 ET 11/09/22 588.75$            Walters Vicks Mill Tour 3/22 21.94
28 ET 12/12/22 285.00$           
29 ET 1/5/23 510.00$            Total 21.94$         
30 Total 9,606.25$         Marketing
31 Contractual Op. Web. Blue Tree 6/23/22 120.00$       
32 ET 6/1/22 52.50$               Web. Blue Tree 10/13/22 80.00$          
33 ET 6/13/22 1,813.75$         Total 200.00$       
34 ET 7/12/22 801.25$           
35 ET 8/22/22 1,887.50$         Employee Training
36 ET 9/16/22 1,291.25$        
37 ET 10/12/22 2,031.25$         Total $0.00
38 ET 11/09/22 603.75$            Miscellaneous
39 Total 8,481.25$        
40 Site Study Total ‐$              
41 Alcott Street 10/22 2,950.00$        
42 Indirect Cost alloc. 6,853.00$    
43
44 Total 2,950.00$         Interest Expense
45 Total 0.00
46
47

Total Expenses 104,478.38$   



FUND 243 MWalters 
2‐23‐2023

5 BRA Fund 243 for 2022 (Formerly Fund 247) Revenues Expenses
Estimated 

Pending reimb. REV‐EXP
6 County BRA (acct 24370300‐) 0.00 0.00
7 Interest 0.00
8 Midlink local TIR tax (acct 24370301‐420.00) 389,638.44 220,480.32 169,158.12
9 Midlink school TIR tax (acct 24370301‐420.01) 510,939.94 394,228.36 116,712

10 Midlink Admin chg 17,346.67
11 General Mills local TIR (acct 24370304‐420.00) 37,074.55 146,858.51 ‐109,784
12 General Mills school TIR (acct 24370304‐420.01) 14,806.25 129,903.00 ‐115,097
13 General Mills Admin chg 4,093.89
14 9008 Portage Road local TIR (acct 24370303‐420.00) 4,152.50 918.19 3,234
15 9008 Portage Road school TIR (acct 24370303‐420.01) 958.61 ‐959
16 9008 Portage Road Admin Chg 167.87
17 Corner @ Drake (24370305‐420.00)     213,540.78 219,164.00 ‐5,623
18 Corner @ Drake Admin Chg     0.00
19 555 E. Eliza St. Local TIR (24370306‐420.00) 430.97 431
20 555 E. Eliza St. School TIR (24370306‐420.01) 295.14 36.00 259
21 555 E. Eliza St. Admin Chg 17.17
22 232 LLC (24370307‐420.00)   4,841.10 4,758.43 83
23 232 LLC Admin. Chg 122.34
24 Blackbird Billiards local TIR (24370308‐420.00) 1,055.22 295.38 760
25 Blackbird Billiards School TIR (24370308‐420.01) 775.96 1,040.20 ‐264.24
26 Blackbird Billiards Admin Chg 41.31
27 RAI AZO, LLC local TIR (24370309‐420.00)  13,974.17 13,974.17
28 RAI AZO, LLC School TIR (24370309‐420.01) 5,891.65 809.50 5,082
29 RAI Admin Chg 320.79
30 Kalamazoo West Prof Ctr Local TIR (24370310‐010)  1,133.40 5,128.40 ‐3,995.00
31 Kalamazoo West Admin. Chg 99.94
32 Metal Mechanics Local TIR (24370311‐420.00) 4,910.93 4,724.28 187
33 Metal Mechanics School TIR (24370311‐420.01) 59.65 ‐60
34 Metal Mechanics Admin. Chg. 116.92
35 Scanell/Project Spartan Local TIR (24370318‐420.00) 584,526.68 309,153.85 275,373
36 Scanell/Project Spartan School TIR (24370318‐420.01) 146,047.97 16,355.00 129,693
37 Scanell/Project Spartan Admin. Chg. 14,741.94
38 Stryker Local (24370313‐420.00) 1,101,270.12 1,465,792.55 ‐364,522
39 Stryker School (24370313‐420.01) 1,018,906.22 1,691,073.88 ‐672,168
40 Stryker Admin. Chg 49,060.76
41 Stadium Park Way Local (24370314‐420.00) 44,400.45 171,311.97 ‐126,912
42 Stadium Park Way School (24370314‐420.01) 43,006.75 12,604.50 30,402
43 Stadium Park Way Admin Chg 2,869.31
44 383 S. Pitcher St Local TIR (24370315‐420.00) 12,850.12 12,429.24 421
45 383 S. Pitcher School TIR (24370315‐420.01) 8,355.15 7,454.95 900
46 383 S. Pitcher Admin Chg 520.38
47 Vickburg Mill (24370316) 9,989.02
48 Vicksburg Mill Admin. Chg 3,581.50
49 Delta Marriott (24370317) Local TIR 32,346.39
50 Delta Marriott School TIR 
51 Delta Marriott Admin. Chg 1,115.63
52 2 and 10 Mills St. (Environmental Work)
53 Graphic Packaging Local TIR (24370319‐420.00) 78.11 78
54 Graphic Packaging School TIR (24370319‐420.01) 101.20 101
55 Graphic Packaging Admin Chg 4,716.36
56 IPUSA 
57 619 Porter St. (Environmental work)

59 BRA ACTUAL TOTAL 2022 AS OF 3/16/2023 4,195,350.16 4,924,460.57 ‐  ‐729,110



2023 Expense Detail

1 Postage  Jan‐March     4.64 Other contract Salaries
2 April‐June Salary R Q1
3 July‐Sept. Salary M Q1
4 Oct.‐Dec. Fringe Q1
5 Total 4.64$                 Salary R Q2
6 Printing  Jan‐March 3.77$                 Salary M Q2
7 April‐June ‐$                   Fringe Q2
8 July‐Sept. Salary Q3 R
9 Oct.‐Dec. Salary Q3 M

10 Total 3.77$                 Fringe Q3
11 Office Supplies Total ‐$               Salary Q4 R
12 Communication ‐internal Salary Q4 M
13 Network Jan.‐March 355.05 Fringe Q4
14 Network April‐June
15 Total ‐$                   Network July‐Sept. Total ‐
16 Contractual Network Oct.‐Dec.
17 Fishbeck 2/16/23 160.00$            Total 355.05$       
18 Fishbeck 3/16/23 315.00$            Communication 
19
20
21
22
23
24
25 Total ‐$              
26 Travel
27 Walters Vicks Mill Tour 11/22 23.44
28
29
30 Total 475.00$            Total 23.44$         
31 Contractual Op. Marketing
32 Fishbeck 3/16/23 315.00$           
33
34 Total ‐$              
35
36 Employee Training
37
38 Total $0.00
39 Total 315.00$            Miscellaneous
40 Site Study
41 Total ‐$              
42
43 Indirect Cost alloc. ‐$              
44 Total ‐$                  
45 Interest Expense
46 Total 0.00
47

Total Expenses 1,176.90$       



FUND 247
MWalters 3‐23‐2023

5 BRA Fund 243 for 2023 (Formerly Fund 2473 Revenues Expenses
Estimated 

Pending reimb. REV‐EXP
6 County BRA (acct 24370300‐) 0.00 0.00
7 Interest 0.00
8 Midlink local TIR tax (acct 24370301‐420.00) 0.00
9 Midlink school TIR tax (acct 24370301‐420.01) 0

10 Midlink Admin chg
11 General Mills local TIR (acct 24370304‐420.00) 0
12 General Mills school TIR (acct 24370304‐420.01) 0
13 General Mills Admin chg
14 9008 Portage Road local TIR (acct 24370303‐420.00) 0
15 9008 Portage Road school TIR (acct 24370303‐420.01) 0
16 9008 Portage Road Admin Chg
17 Corner @ Drake (24370305‐420.00)     2,602.89        ‐2,603
18 Corner @ Drake Admin Chg    
19 555 E. Eliza St. Local TIR (24370306‐420.00) 0
20 555 E. Eliza St. School TIR (24370306‐420.01) 0
21 555 E. Eliza St. Admin Chg
22 232 LLC (24370307‐420.00)   0
23 232 LLC Admin. Chg
24 Blackbird Billiards local TIR (24370308‐420.00) 0
25 Blackbird Billiards School TIR (24370308‐420.01) 0.00
26 Blackbird Billiards Admin Chg
27 RAI AZO, LLC local TIR (24370309‐420.00)  0.00
28 RAI AZO, LLC School TIR (24370309‐420.01) 0
29 RAI Admin Chg
30 Kalamazoo West Prof Ctr Local TIR (24370310‐010)  0.00
31 Kalamazoo West Admin. Chg
32 Metal Mechanics Local TIR (24370311‐420.00) 0
33 Metal Mechanics School TIR (24370311‐420.01) 0
34 Metal Mechanics Admin. Chg.
35 Scanell/Project Spartan Local TIR (24370318‐420.00) 0
36 Scanell/Project Spartan School TIR (24370318‐420.01) 0
37 Scanell/Project Spartan Admin. Chg.
38 Stryker Local (24370313‐420.00) 0
39 Stryker School (24370313‐420.01) 0
40 Stryker Admin. Chg
41 Stadium Park Way Local (24370314‐420.00) 0
42 Stadium Park Way School (24370314‐420.01) 0
43 Stadium Park Way Admin Chg
44 383 S. Pitcher St Local TIR (24370315‐420.00) 0
45 383 S. Pitcher School TIR (24370315‐420.01) 0
46 383 S. Pitcher Admin Chg
47 Vickburg Mill (24370316)
48 Vicksburg Mill Admin. Chg
49 Delta Marriott (24370317) Local TIR
50 Delta Marriott School TIR 
51 Delta Marriott Admin. Chg
52 2 and 10 Mills St. (Environmental Work)
53 Graphic Packaging Local TIR (24370319‐420.00) 0
54 Graphic Packaging School TIR (24370319‐420.01) 0
55 Graphic Packaging Admin Chg
56 IPUSA  5,480.00
57 619 Porter St. (Environmental work)

59 BRA ACTUAL TOTAL 2023 AS OF 03/16/2023 0.00 2,602.89 5,480.00           ‐8,083 ‐8,083 2,062,262
60
61
62 2020‐23 Pending remaining of approved Work Orders & Other Expenses
63 General Fund

64 WO#17 ‐ Gen Env. Consulting, Ammend. #1 85 unused in 2017
65 WO#2018‐1 ‐ General Env. Consulting 20 unused in 2018
66 WO#19 ‐ Checker Motors MDEQ SSA grant application $1179 + $58 application
67
68 WO# 2018‐2  ET Annual Report Assisstance 25 unused in 2018
69 WO# 2018‐3 Website Assisstance ‐Envirologic 42.5 unused in 2018
70 Web Hosting (annual expense) 300
71 WO# 2019‐1 General Environmental Consulting 1,516.25 unused in 2019
72 WO# 2019‐3 General Env. Review 2018 Annual report 447.50 unused in 2019
73 WO# 2020‐1 General Environmental Review ET 7,273.75 unused in 2020
74 WO#2021‐1 General Env. + Admin. Envirologic 16,393.75 unused in 2021
75 WO#2022‐1 General Environmental + admin 11,722.50 unused in 2022
76 WO#2023‐1 General Environmental + Admin 19,840.00
77
78 2020 Pending TIF Payments to Developers & other expenses
79 Eliza St. 2015‐2019 TIF Hold for MDEQ Loan 2,717.37
80 RAI AZO School & Interest  1,234

81
82 Fund 243 (247) Work Order TOTAL 24,091.10 ‐24,091.10 2,031,338
84 Local Brownfield Revolving Fund

85 440 LLC ‐ Funding Request 15,000.00 awaiting invoice submittal
86 WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn Rd General Env. 6,832.02 Remaining amount in W.O. ‐6,832.02 1,723,093
87 Fund 242 (643) Work Order TOTAL 21,832.02
89 45,923.12

Pending reimbursements to Developers (with required documentation):
Delta Marriott Invoices 82,473.15
City of Portage Invoices (TBD) 0.00
Midlink Invoices (TBD) 0.00
2022 Developer Reimbursements (TBD) 0.00

ESTIMATED Total Remaining (w/remaining encumbrances TBD) 1,948,865.32

total work orders & other expenses from both accounts



FUND 242
3/23/2023

Local Brownfield Revolving Fund ‐ Fund 242
 (Previously Fund 643) Revenues Expenditures REV‐EXP

LBRF From 2014 7,416.84 7,416.84
Transferred from Brown 7/6/2015 5,659.48 5,659.48

Transferred from Brown 12/31/2015 5,299.28 5,299.28
Transferred from Brown 8/2/2016 6,479.70 6,479.70

 Transfer from Brown 12/15/16 6,314.00 6,314.00
Transfer from Brown 7/27/17 6,984.90 6,984.90
Transfer from Brown 1/18/18 6,478.34 6,478.34

Transfer from Brown approved 5/24/18 ‐ actual 8/16/18 8,607.43 8,607.43
Transfer from Corner @ Drake Actual 8/16/18 29,537.26 29,537.26

Transfer Corner @ Drake remaining 2018 8/2/19 32,737.66 32,737.66
Transfer Corner @ Drake (‐ reimb MTT Costco) 8/2/19 158,072.02 158,072.02

Transfer from Brown 8/2/19 11,262.63 11,262.63
Transfer from Metal Mechanics 10/14/19 2,309.82 2,309.82

Transfer from Metal Mechanics School 4/16/20 677.85 677.85
Transfer from Corner @ Drake 7/15/20 211,427.30 211,427.30

 Envirologic WO#31 E. Frank and N. Pitcher St 11/23/20 2,966.13 ‐2,966.13
Envirologic WO#2020‐3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 12/1/20 4,516.58 ‐4,516.58

Envirologic WO#2020‐3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 12/31/20  7,901.92 ‐7,901.92
Envirologic WO#2020‐3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 1/28/21  235.00 ‐235.00

Transfer from Corner @ Drake 7/22/21 243,109.06 243,109.06
Transfer from 2747 S. 11th Street ‐ Delta Marriott 9/27/21 2,100.00 2,100.00

Transfer from Metal Mechanics 9/27/21 632.18 632.18
Transfer from RAI Jets 10/28/21 11,148.99 11,148.99

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 11,504.87 ‐11,504.87
Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 308.51 ‐308.51
Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 1,102.50 ‐1,102.50
Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 897.00 ‐897.00
Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 130.00 ‐130.00

Transfer from Midlink 2/24/22 394,228.36 394,228.36
Tansfer from General  Mills 2/24/22 310,467.33 310,467.33

Transfer from RAI Jets 4/29/22 13,871.91 13,871.91
Transfer from Corner @ Drake 4/29/22 217,535.53 217,535.53
Transfer from Metal Mechanics 6/23/22 2,332.92 2,332.92

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn Road BEA Due Care 225.00 ‐225.00
Transfer from Scannell 9/22/22 9,245.50 9,245.50

Transfer from General Mills 11/17/22 48,943.82 48,943.82
Subtotals 1,752,880.11 29,787.51 1,723,092.60

1,723,092.60$   
*see Expense Detail 2023 for outstanding workorders

Fund 242 TOTAL to date




